
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
MEETING

9.30 AM MONDAY, 25TH JANUARY, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members of the Rights of way Committee are 
reminded of their personal responsibility to declare 
any personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
matters contained in this agenda in accordance 
with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct.

Note:

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and 

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 



3. Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous 
Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way 
To receive this Guidance for information. (Pages 1 - 14)

4. Guidance on the Law relating to the 
extinguishment of Public Rights of Way under the 
Highways Act 1980 
To receive this Guidance for information. (Pages 15 - 18)

5. Pant 13 
To receive report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 19 - 20)

6. Pant 5 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 21 - 24)

7. Pant 6 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 25 - 28)

8. Pant 7 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 29 - 32)

9. Pant 8 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 33 - 36)

10. Pant 9 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 37 - 40)

11. Pant 10 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 41 - 44)



12. Pant 14 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 45 - 50)

13. Pant 15 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 51 - 56)

14. Troedyrhiw 71 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 57 - 64)

15. Troedyrhiw 125 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 65 - 68)

16. Treharris 31 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 69 - 76)

17. Any other Business as deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors C T Jones (Chair) 

B E Mansbridge, K Moran, S Slater and W R Smith

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY
INFORMATION REPORT

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen

Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review of the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way

Definitions

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 gives the following definitions of the public 
rights of way which are able to be recorded on the Definitive Map:-

Footpath – means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot 
only, other than such a highway at the side of a public road; these rights are 
without prejudice to any other public rights over the way;

Bridleway – means a highway over which the public have the following, but no 
other, rights of way, that is to say, a right of way on foot and a right of way on 
horseback or leading a horse, with or without a right to drive animals of any 
description along the highway; these rights are without prejudice to any other 
public rights over the way;

Byway open to all traffic (BOATs) – means a highway over which the public 
have a right of way for vehicular traffic and all other kinds of traffic. These routes 
are recorded as Byways recognising their particular type of vehicular highway 
being routes whose characters make them more likely to be used by walkers and 
horse riders because of them being more suitable for these types of uses;

Date Written 1st October 2015
Report Author Geraint Morgan
Committee Date 25th January 2016 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Restricted Byway – means a highway over which the public have a right of way 
on foot, on horseback or leading a horse and a right of way for vehicles other 
than mechanically propelled vehicles, with or without a right to drive animals 
along the highway. (Mechanically propelled vehicles do not include vehicles in 
S189 Road Traffic Act 1988).

Duty of the Surveying Authority

Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying 
Authority shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review 
and as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of 
prescribed events by Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement 
as appear to them to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event.

Orders following “evidential events”

The prescribed events include –

Sub section (3) of section 53

(b) the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the Map 
relates, of any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way 
during that period raises a presumption that the way has been 
dedicated as a public path or restricted byway;

(c) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered 
with all other relevant evidence available to them) shows –

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the Map and Statement 
subsists or is reasonably alleged  to subsist over land in the 
area to which the map relates, being a right of way such that the 
land over which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted 
byway or, a byway open to all traffic; or

(ii) that a highway shown in the Map and Statement as a highway 
of a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway 
of a  different description; or

(iii) that there is a public right of way over land in the Map and 
Statement as a highway of any description, or any other 
particulars contained in the Map and Statement require 
modification.  

The modifications which may be made by Order shall include the addition to the 
statement of particulars as to:-

Page 2



(a) the position and width of any public path or byway open to all traffic 
which is or is to be shown on the Map; and

(b) any limitations or conditions affecting the public right of way thereover.

Orders following “legal events”

Other events include 

“The coming into operation of any enactment or instrument or any other event” 
whereby a highway is stopped up diverted widened or extended or has ceased to 
be a highway of a particular description or has been created and a Modification 
Order can be made to amend the Definitive Map and Statement to reflect these 
legal events.

Government Policy – Welsh Office Circulars 5/93 & 45/90

In considering the duty outlined above the Authority should have regard to the 
above circulars.

Circular 5/93

Paragraph 13 of Annex B of that circular states “Surveying Authorities, whenever 
they discover or are presented with evidence which suggests that a Definitive 
Map and Statement should be modified, are required to take into consideration 
all other relevant evidence available to them concerning the status of the right of 
way involved. Moreover before making an Order they must be satisfied that the 
evidence shows on the balance of probability that a right of way of a particular 
description exists or that a way shown on the Map is not in fact a public right of 
way. The mere assumption, without any supporting evidence, that a right of way 
does or does not exist would be insufficient to satisfy that test. In the case of 
deletions, the conclusive evidential effect of definitive maps and statements 
means that the evidence must show that no right of way existed as at the 
relevant date of the Definitive Map on which the way was first shown. If the 
evidence does support this, consideration should also be given to whether the 
way has acquired such rights in the intervening period.”

Further advice on deletions is contained in Welsh Office Circular 45/90.

In relation to byways open to all traffic (BOATs) Paragraph 12 of Annex B states 
“by definition BOATs are vehicular rights of way which are used by the public 
mainly for the purposes for which footpaths and bridleways are used. The 
Principal factor Surveying Authorities should bear in mind when deciding whether 
a way ought to be shown on the Definitive Map and Statement as a BOAT is 
therefore the purposes for which it is used. Thus if it is mainly used by vehicular 
traffic as opposed to walkers and horse riders it should as a general rule not be 

Page 3



shown. Instances may occur where a way presumed to have been dedicated as 
a highway for all purposes under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 also 
satisfies the definition of a BOAT. In such circumstances, it would be open to 
Surveying Authorities to add the way to the Definitive Map and Statement under 
Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Section 53(3)(c) also 
allows for ways presently shown on Definitive Maps and Statements as footpaths 
and bridleways, but which enjoy vehicular rights, to be upgraded to BOATs.”     

Circular 45/90

The circular explains that following the Court of Appeal decision in R v Secretary 
of State for the Environment ex parte Sims and Burrows (1989), authorities may 
consider applications to delete or downgrade rights of way on the basis that the 
evidence relates to events prior to the relevant date of the Definitive Map.

The circular also states:

“However, in making an application for an Order to delete or downgrade a right of 
way it will be for those who contend that there is no right of way or that a right of 
way is of a lower status than shown to prove that the Map is in error by the 
discovery of evidence which, when considered with all other relevant evidence, 
clearly shows that a mistake was made when the right of way was first recorded. 
The Authority is required by Paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 to the Act to investigate 
the matters stated in the application. However, it is not for the Authority to 
demonstrate that the Map is correct but for the applicant to show that an error 
was made…”

“In making an Order the Authority must be able to say in accordance with 
Sections 53(3)(c)(ii) or (iii) that a highway of a particular description ought to be 
shown on the Map and Statement with a different description; or that there is no 
public right of way over land shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of 
any description…”

“Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to 
maintain an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. The 
evidence needed to remove a public right from such an authoritative record will 
need to be cogent. The procedures for defining and recording public rights of way 
have, in successive legislation, been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst they 
do not preclude errors, particularly where recent research has uncovered 
previously unknown evidence, or where the review procedures have never been 
implemented, they would tend to suggest that it is unlikely that a large number of 
errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 years without being questioned 
earlier.”            

Page 4



Definitive Maps

The process for the preparation and revision of definitive maps was introduced 
by Part III of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949.

Merthyr Tydfil was exempt from the provisions of Part III and it was not until 1990 
that the first Definitive Map and Statement was prepared for Merthyr Tydfil by the 
then Highway Authority, Mid Glamorgan County Council. This was reviewed and 
the present Definitive Map and Statement is dated 15th December 1995.

Test to be applied when making an Order

The provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 set out the tests which 
must be addressed in deciding that the Map should be altered.

Section 53 permits both upgrading and downgrading of recorded highways and 
additions of way not previously recorded as well as deletions from the Map.

The statutory test at S53(3)(b) refers to the expiration of a period of time and use 
by the public such that a presumption of dedication is raised.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(i) comprises two separate questions, one of which 
must be answered in the affirmative before an Order is made under that 
subsection. There has to be evidence discovered. The claimed right of way has 
to be found on balance to subsist (Test A) or able to be reasonably alleged to 
subsist (Test B).

This second Test B is easier to satisfy.

Test B has been described in a recent case as imposing a “lesser burden, 
namely one which obliges the Authority only to be satisfied of the existence of 
facts which raise a prima facie case for the subsistence of the way.”     

The case of R v Secretary of State for the Environment, ex parte Bagshaw 
(1994) seems by inference to accept that an Order made on resumed dedication 
under Statute can be made under s53(3)(b) or s53(3)(c)(i).

In the Court of Appeal case, R v Secretary of State for Wales, ex parte Emery 
(1996), Lord Justice Roch found that in the case of a dedication deemed under 
statute; Test A is satisfied if there is “clear evidence of 20 years user 
uncontraverted by any credible evidence to the contrary and no credible 
evidence that there was on the part of the landowner no intention during the 
period to dedicate the way to the public”.

Page 5



Neither Test A nor Test B will be satisfied if there is “no credible evidence of 20 
years use or where there is incontrovertible evidence that the landowner had no 
intention during the period to dedicate the way to the public”.
Test B can be satisfied where “an applicant for a Modification Order produces 
credible evidence of actual enjoyment of a way as a public right of way over a full 
period of 20 years and there is conflict of apparently credible evidence in relation 
to one of the other issues which arose under S31 of the 1980 Act”. This is 
because it is possible, even though there is conflicting evidence, that a 
reasonable person having considered all relevant evidence available could 
reasonably allege a right of way to subsist.

The Court in the Emery case asked Order Making Authorities to bear in mind that 
making an Order still leaves both parties with the ability to object to the Order 
when conflicting evidence can be heard and those issues determined following a 
public inquiry.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(ii) again refers to the discovery of evidence that 
the highway on the Definitive Map ought to be shown as a different status.

The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(iii) again refers to evidence being discovered that 
there is no public right of way of any description after all or that there is evidence 
that particulars in the Map or Statement need to be modified.

The judgement in O’Keefe v Secretary of State for the Environment and Isle of 
Wight CC (1997) reminds Order making Authorities that they should make their 
own assessment of the evidence and not accept unquestioningly what officers 
place before them.

All evidence must be considered and weighed and a view taken on its relevance 
and effect.

An Order making Authority should reach a conclusion on the balance of 
probabilities. The balance of probability test demands a comparative assessment 
of the evidence on opposing sides. This is a complex balancing act.

Recording a “new” route

For a route to have become a highway it must have been dedicated by the owner 
either directly or by inference.

Once a route is a highway it remains a highway, even though it may fall into non 
use and perhaps become part of garden.

This is the position until a legal event causing the highway to cease can be 
shown to have occurred, or the land on which the highways runs is destroyed 
perhaps by erosion which would mean that the highway length ceases to exist.  

Page 6



Sometimes there is documentary evidence of actual dedication but more often a 
dedication can be inferred because of how the landowner appears to have 
treated the route and given it over to public use (dedication at Common Law) or 
dedication can be deemed to have occurred if certain criteria laid down in Statute 
are fulfilled (dedication under S31 Highways Act 1980)

Dedication able to be inferred at Common Law

At common law dedication of a highway may be inferred if the evidence points 
clearly and unequivocally to an intention on the part of the landowner to dedicate. 
The burden of proof is on the claimant to prove a dedication. Evidence of use of 
the route by the public and how an owner acted towards them is one of the 
factors which may be taken into account in deciding whether a path has been 
dedicated. No minimum period of use is necessary. All the circumstances must 
be taken into account. How a landowner viewed a route may also be indicated in 
documents and maps.

However, a landowner may rely on a variety of evidence to indicate that he did 
not intend to dedicate, including signs the way was private, blocking off the way 
or turning people off the path, or granting permission or accepting payment to 
use the path.

There is no need to know who a landowner was.

Use needs to be by the public. This would seem to require the users to be a 
number of people who together may sensibly be taken to represent the people as 
a whole/the local community. Use wholly or largely by local people may still be 
use by the public. Use of a way by trades people, postmen, estate workers or by 
employees of the landowner to get to work, or the purpose of doing  business 
with the landowner or on payment would not normally be sufficient. Use by 
friends of or persons known to the landowner would be less cogent evidence 
than use by other persons.

The use also needs to be as of right which would mean that it had to be open, 
not secretly or by force or with permission. Open use would arguably give the 
landowner the opportunity to challenge the use. Toleration by the landowner of a 
use is not inconsistent with user as of right. Recent case law would indicate that 
the use has to be considered from the landowner’s perspective as to whether the 
use, in all the circumstances, is such as to suggest to a reasonable landowner 
the exercise of a public right of way.

The use would have to be of a sufficient level for a landowner to have been 
aware of it. The use must be by such a number as might reasonably have been 
expected if the way had been unquestioningly a highway.

Page 7



Current use (vehicular or otherwise) is not required for a route to be considered a 
Byway Open to All Traffic but past use by the public using vehicles will need to 
be sufficiently evidenced from which to infer the dedication of a vehicular route.       

Dedication deemed to have taken place (Statutory Test)

By virtue of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 dedication of a path as a 
highway may be presumed from use of the way by the public as of right – not 
secretly, not by force nor by permission without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during 
the twenty year period to dedicate it.

The 20 year period is computed back from the date the existence of the right of 
way is called into question.

A landowner may prevent a presumption of dedication arising by erecting notices 
indicating that the path is private. Further, under Section 31(6) a landowner may 
deposit with the Highway Authority a map (of a scale of not less than 1:10560 {6 
inches to the mile}) and statement showing those ways, if any, which he or she 
agrees are dedicated as highways. This statement must be followed by statutory 
declarations. These statutory declarations used to have to be renewed at not 
more than 6 yearly intervals, but the interval is now 10 years. The declaration 
would state that no additional rights of way have been dedicated. These 
provisions do not preclude the other ways open to the landowner to show the 
way has not been dedicated.

If the criteria of Section 31 are satisfied a highway can properly be deemed to 
have been dedicated. This deemed dedication is despite a landowner now 
protesting or being the one to now challenge the use as it is considered too late 
for him to now evidence his lack of intention when he failed to do something to 
sufficiently evidence this during the previous twenty years.

Guidance on the various elements of the Statutory criteria:-

Use – see above as to sufficiency of use. The cogency, credibility and 
consistency of user evidence should be considered.

By the public – see above as to users which may be considered “the public”.

As of right – see above.

Without interruption – for a deemed dedication the use must have been without 
interruption. The route should not have been blocked with the intention of 
excluding the users.

Page 8



For a full period of twenty years – use by different people, each for periods of 
less than twenty years will suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous 
period of twenty years or more. The period must end with the route being “called 
into question”.

Calling into question -  there must be something  done which is sufficient at least 
to make it likely that some users are made aware that the owner has challenged 
their right to use the way as a highway. Barriers, signage and challenges to users 
can all call a route into question. An application for a Modification Order is itself 
sufficient to be a “calling into question” (as provided in the new statutory 
provisions of Section 31(7a & 7b) Highways Act 1980). It is not necessary that it 
be the landowner who brings the route into question.

Sufficient evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate – this would not need to be 
evidenced for the whole of the twenty year period. It would be unlikely that lack of 
intention could be sufficiently evidenced in the absence of overt and 
contemporaneous acts on the part of the owner. The intention not to dedicate 
does have to be brought to the attention of the users of the route such that a 
reasonable user would be able to understand that the landowner was intending 
to disabuse him of the notion that the land was a public highway.

Documentary Evidence

By virtue of Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 in considering whether a 
highway has been dedicated, maps plans and histories of the locality are 
admissible in evidence and must be given such weight as is justified by the 
circumstances including the antiquity of the document, status of the persons by 
whom and the purpose for which the document was made or compiled and the 
custody from which it is produced.                  

In assessing whether or not a highway has been dedicated reference is 
commonly made to old commercial maps of the County, Ordnance Survey maps, 
sometimes private estate maps and other documents, other public documents 
such as Inclosure or Tithe Awards, plans deposited in connection with private 
Acts of Parliament establishing railways, canals or other public works, records 
compiled in connection with the valuation of land for the purposes of the 
assessment of increment value duty and the Finance Act 1910. Works of local 
history may also be relevant, as may be the records of predecessor highway 
authorities and the information gained in connection with the preparation and 
review of the Definitive Map.

It should be stressed that it is rare for a single document or piece of information 
to be conclusive (although some documents are of more value than others, e.g. 
Inclosure Awards where the Commissioners were empowered to allot and set out 
highways). It is necessary to look at the evidence as a whole to see if it builds up 
a picture of the route being dedicated as a highway.        

Page 9



It should be noted that Ordnance Survey Maps (other than recent series which 
purport to show public rights of way and which derive their information from the 
Definitive Map) contain a disclaimer to the effect that the recording of a highway 
or right of way does not imply that it has any status. The maps reflect what the 
map makers found on the ground.

Similarly, in relation to other map evidence such as Tithe Maps, they simply 
indicate that there was a track in existence at the time of the inspection, they do 
not establish the status of the track.

Synergy between pieces of highway status evidence – coordination as distinct 
from repetition would significantly increase the collective impact of the 
documents.

Recording vehicular rights

Historical evidence can indicate that a route carries vehicular rights and following 
the case of Bakewell Management Limited v Brandford case in 2004 (House of 
Lords) it is considered that vehicular rights could be acquired on routes by long 
user during years even since 1930. However, in May 2006 Part 6 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 came into force. Public rights of 
way for mechanically propelled vehicles are now extinguished on routes shown 
on the Definitive Map as footpaths, bridleways or restricted byways unless one of 
eight exceptions applies. In essence mechanical vehicle rights no longer exist 
unless a route is recorded in a particular way on the Council’s Definitive Map or 
List of Streets or one of the other exceptions apply. In effect the provisions of the 
Act curtail the future scope for applications to record a Byway Open to All Traffic 
to be successful.

The exceptions whereby mechanical vehicular rights are “saved” may be 
summarised as follows:-

1. main lawful use of the route 2001-2006 was use for mechanically 
propelled vehicles.

2. that the route was not on the Definitive Map but was recorded on the List 
of Streets.

3. that the route was especially created to be a highway for mechanically 
propelled vehicles.

4. that the route was constructed under statutory powers as a road intended 
for use by mechanically propelled vehicles.

5. that the route was dedicated by use of mechanically propelled vehicles 
before December 1930.

6. that a proper application was made before 19th May 2005 for a 
Modification Order to record the route as Byway Open to All Traffic 
(BOAT).

Page 10



7. that a Regulatory Committee had already made a decision re an 
application for a BOAT before 6th April 2006.

8. that an application for a Modification Order has already been made before 
6th April 2006 for a BOAT and at 6th April 2006 use of the way for 
mechanically propelled vehicles was reasonably necessary to enable that 
applicant to access land he has an interest in, even if not actually used.

It is certainly the case that any application to add a byway to the Definitive Map 
and Statement must still be processed and determined even though the outcome 
may now be that a vehicular right of way existed before May 2006 but has been 
extinguished for mechanically propelled vehicles and that the route should be 
recorded as a restricted byway.     

Downgrading a route or taking a route off the Definitive Map

In such matters it is clear that the evidence to be considered relates to whether 
on balance it is shown that a mistake was made when the right was first 
recorded.

In the case of Trevelyan v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and 
the Regions (2001), Court of Appeal, it was considered that where a right of way 
is marked on the Definitive Map there is an initial presumption that it exists. It 
should be assumed that the proper procedures were followed and thus evidence 
which made it reasonably arguable that it existed was available when it was put 
on the Map. The standard of proof required to justify a finding that no such right 
of way exists is on the balance of probabilities and evidence of some substance 
is required to outweigh that presumption.

Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to 
maintain an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. 
“The evidence needed to remove a public right from such an authoritative record 
will need to be cogent. The procedures for defining and recording public rights of 
way have, in successive legislation, been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst 
they do not preclude errors, or where the review procedures have never been 
implemented, they would tend to suggest that it is unlikely that a large number of 
errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 years without being questioned 
earlier.”

Taking one route off and replacing it with an alternative

In some cases there will be no dispute that a public right of way exists between 
two points, but there will be one route shown on the Definitive Map which it is 
claimed to be in error and an alternative route claimed to be the actual correct 
highway.

Page 11



There is a need to consider whether, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 a right of way is shown to subsist or is 
reasonably alleged to subsist and also, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(iii) of 
the same Act whether there is no public right of way on the other route.

The guidance published under the statutory provisions make it clear that 
evidence to establish that a right of way should be removed from the authoritative 
record will need to be cogent.

In the case of R (on the application of Leicester County Council) v Secretary of 
State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2003), Mr Justice Collins said 
there “has to be a balance drawn between the existence of the definitive map 
and the route shown on it which would have to be removed and the evidence to 
support the placing on the Map, in effect a new right of way. If there is doubt that 
there is sufficient evidence to show that the correct route is other than that shown 
on the Map, then what is shown on the Map must stay.”

The court considered that if it could merely be found that it was reasonable to 
allege that the alternative existed, this would not be sufficient to remove what is 
shown on the map. It advised that, unless in extraordinary circumstances, 
evidence of an alternative route which satisfied only the lower “Test B” (see 
above) would not be sufficiently cogent evidence to remove the existing recorded 
route from the Map.

Confirming the Order

An Order is not effective until confirmed.

The County Borough Council may confirm unopposed Orders. If there are 
objections the Order is sent to the Secretary of State for determination. The 
County Borough Council usually promotes Orders and actively seeks 
confirmation from the Secretary of State.

Until recently it was thought that the test to be applied to confirm an Order was 
the same test as to make the Order, which may have been under the lower Test 
B for the recording of a “new” route. However, the Honourable Justice Evans-
Lombe heard the matter of Todd and Bradley v Secretary of State for the 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2004) and decided that confirming an 
Order made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) “implies a revisiting by the Authority or 
Secretary of State of the material upon which the original Order was made with a 
view to subjecting it to a more stringent test at the confirmation stage” and that to 
confirm the Order the Secretary of State (or the Authority) must be “satisfied of a 
case for the subsistence of the right of way in question on the balance of 
probabilities”, i.e. that Test A is satisfied.

Page 12



It is advised that there may be cases where an Order to record a new route can 
be made because there is sufficient evidence that a highway is reasonably 
alleged to subsist, but unless Committee also consider that there is enough 
evidence, on balance of probabilities, that the route can be said to exist, the 
Order may not be confirmed as an unopposed Order by the County Borough 
Council. This would mean that an Order could be made, but not confirmed as 
opposed, nor could the confirmation actively be supported by the County 
Borough Council should an opposed Order be submitted to the Secretary of 
State unless additional information came to light at or before the confirmation 
stage to enable the County Borough Council to be satisfied that the way existed.

         

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY
INFORMATION REPORT

To:  Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen

Guidance on the law relating to the diversion of rights of way 
under Highways Act 1980

The following is to remind Members of the criteria for the making of the Orders 
and to offer some guidance. 

Often the legal test requires the Committee to be satisfied as to the expediency 
of something. It is suggested that for something to be expedient it is appropriate 
and suitable to the circumstances and may incline towards being of an 
advantage even if not particularly fair. Something which is expedient would seem 
to facilitate your achieving a desired end.

Whether something is as convenient or not substantially less convenient may 
need to be considered. It is suggested that convenient refers to being suitable 
and easy to use.

TO MAKE AN ORDER

To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee or 
occupier
OR
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public

Date Written 1st October 2015
Report Author Geraint Morgan
Committee Date 25th January 2016 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



To be satisfied that the Order will not alter a point of termination at all if it is a cul- 
de-sac route (ending at a beauty spot for example)
OR
If the route terminates at a highway to be satisfied that the termination point is 
only being moved to another point on the same highway or to another highway 
connected to it and the point is substantially as convenient to the public

To have due regard to firstly the needs of agriculture and forestry, secondly the 
desirability of conserving flora and fauna and thirdly geological and 
physiographical features.

To confirm the order if unopposed or seek confirmation from the Secretary of 
State (at a Public Inquiry if necessary) if the order is opposed.

To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the owner, lessee or 
occupier
OR
To be satisfied that it is expedient in the interests of the public

To be satisfied that the route will not be substantially less convenient to the 
public

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect the diversion would 
have on public enjoyment of the path or way as a whole

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on land served by the 
existing right of way (compensation can be taken into account)

That it is expedient to confirm it having regard to the effect on the land over 
which the “new” section runs and any land held with it (compensation can be 
taken into account)

Also having regard to any material provision of any Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan

That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory undertakers under 
in, upon, over, along or across the land crossed by the present definitive route 
unless the statutory undertakers have consented to the confirmation of the Order 
(consent not to be unreasonably withheld)  

GUIDANCE

The point of termination being as substantially convenient is a matter of judgment 
subject to the test of reasonableness. Convenience would have its natural and 
ordinary meaning and refer to such matters as whether the new point of 
termination facilitated the access of the highway network and accommodated 
user’s normal use of the network.

Page 16



That the diverted path is not substantially less convenient would mean 
convenience again being considered. The wording in the Statute allows the 
diversion to be slightly less convenient but it must not be substantially less so. 
Length of the diversion, difficulty of walking it, effect on users who may approach 
the diversion from different directions are factors to be considered

The effect on public enjoyment of the whole route has to be considered. 

It would be possible that a proposed diversion may be as convenient but made 
the route less enjoyable (perhaps it was less scenic). Alternatively the diversion 
may give the route greater public enjoyment but be substantially less convenient 
(being less accessible or longer than the existing path).

It may be that the grounds to make an Order are satisfied but the Committee may 
be unhappy that the route can satisfy the confirmation test. It is suggested that in 
such circumstances the Order should be made but the Committee should 
consider deferring the decision on whether to confirm it (if there are no 
objections) or (if there are objections) whether to instruct officers not to even 
send the Order to the Secretary of State for confirmation or to instruct to submit 
the Order to the Secretary of State and promote the confirmation of same. The 
Council has a discretion as to whether to submit this type of Order to the 
Secretary of State. It is not obliged to just because it has made the Order.   

Under amended provisions, the “new” section of route will “appear” on 
confirmation of the Order (or a set number of days thereafter) but the “old” route 
will remain until the new route is certified as fit for use. It would appear that the 
public could quickly have the use of a new section which is fit for use as soon as 
confirmed but if the new route is unfit for use for a long time, the old line of the 
Right of Way is still there for the public to use.

It would appear that if a definitive path is not used due to some temporary 
obstruction e.g. crops, overgrowth, broken stiles, the Order should be considered 
as if the path was open and in useable condition.

It would appear that a way created by a Diversion Order may follow an existing 
right of way for some but not most or all of its length.

The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the breeding or 
keeping of horses.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE – INFORMATION REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 13

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To inform Committee of a Public Inquiry in February 2016. 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 This footpath was referred to Committee 22nd February 2014 where it was resolved 
that the Public Right of Way be diverted.

2.2 A Diversion Order under the Highways Act 1980 was subsequently made.

2.3 Objections were received. All objections received were responded to. The local 
authority attempts to deal with all objections when received in an attempt to have the 
objections withdrawn. In this particular case none of the objections were withdrawn.

2.4 The matter was referred to the Planning Inspectorate in order for a Rights of Way 
Inspector to make a final determination.

2.5 A Public Inquiry has been listed by the Planning Inspectorate to take place on 23-
24th February 2016 in the Civic Centre.    

Date Written 30th November 2015
Report Author Geraint Morgan
Service Area Legal & Democratic
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Officer’s time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  There will 
also be a financial implication dealing with the Public Inquiry.

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment was prepared for the initial report and a further one 
has not been completed. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE  DIRECTOR 
(PLACE & TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 13 November 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 20



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 5

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To make a Definitive Map Modification Order under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 to record the change in surface to the Public Right of Way. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change in surface.

2.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if the objections or representations are withdrawn. 

2.3 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Pant 5 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The route of 
Pant 5 is depicted on the attached plan, Pant 5.

3.2 Between 2008 and 2010 works were carried out on this footpath which resulted in a 
change of surface to tarmacadam.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



3.3 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. A change in surface to a 
path is a requisite event.

3.4 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 5 November 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Page 22



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 6

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To make a Definitive Map Modification Order under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 to record the change in surface to the Public Right of Way 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change in surface.

2.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if the objections or representations are withdrawn. 

2.3 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Pant 6 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The route of 
Pant 6 is depicted on the attached plan, Pant 6.

3.2 Between 2008 and 2010 works were carried out on this footpath which resulted in a 
change of surface to tarmacadam.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



3.3 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. A change in surface to a 
path is a requisite event.

3.4 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE  DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 6 November 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Page 26



Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 7

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To make Definitive Map Modification Orders under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 to record the change in surface to the Public Right of Way and to record the 
route as a bridleway.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Definitive Map Modification Orders be made to reflect the change in surface and to 
record the route as a bridleway.

2.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Orders made as a 
result of 2.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if the objections or representations are withdrawn. 

2.3 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order(s) to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Pant 7 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The route of 
Pant 7 is depicted on the attached plan, Pant 7.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



3.2 Between 2008 and 2010 works were carried out on this footpath which resulted in 
a change of surface to tarmacadam.

3.3 Since resurfacing the section of the path it has been heavily used as part of the 
Sustrans cycle route. It is considered that the use is sufficient to justify amending the 
status of the footpath to bridleway.  Officers are satisfied that due to the amount of 
use as a bridleway that the common law test for dedication as a bridleway has been 
met. 

3.4 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. A change in surface to a 
path is a requisite event.

3.5 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 7 November 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? NO

Page 30



Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 8

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To make a Definitive Map Modification Order under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 to record the change in surface to the Public Right of Way. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change in surface.

2.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if the objections or representations are withdrawn. 

2.3 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Pant 8 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The route of 
Pant 8 is depicted on the attached plan, Pant 8.

3.2 Between 2008 and 2010 works were carried out on this footpath which resulted in a 
change of surface to tarmacadam.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



3.3 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. A change in surface to a 
path is a requisite event.

3.4 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION)

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 8 November 15 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

NO

Page 34



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 9

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To make a Definitive Map Modification Order under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 to record the change in surface to the Public Right of Way and to record the 
route as a bridleway. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change in surface and to 
record the route as a bridleway.

2.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if the objections or representations are withdrawn. 

2.3 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Pant 9 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The route of 
Pant 9 is depicted on the attached plan, Pant 9.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 37

Agenda Item 10



3.2 Between 2008 and 2010 works were carried out on this footpath which resulted in a 
change of surface to tarmacadam.

3.3 Since resurfacing the path has been heavily used as part of the Sustrans cycle route. 
It is considered that the use is sufficient to justify amending the status to that of 
bridleway. Officers are satisfied that due to the amount of use as a bridleway that the 
common law test for dedication as a bridleway has been met.     

3.4 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. A change in surface to a 
path is a requisite event.

3.5 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 9 November 15 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 38



Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 10

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To make a Definitive Map Modification Order under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 to record the change in surface to the Public Right of Way 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change in surface.

2.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if the objections or representations are withdrawn.

2.3 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Pant 10 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The route of 
Pant 10 is depicted on the attached plan, Pant 10.

3.2 Between 2008 and 2010 works were carried out on this footpath which resulted in a 
change of surface to tarmacadam between Points A and B. The section between 
Points B and C remains a natural surface.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 41

Agenda Item 11



3.3 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. A change in surface to a 
path is a requisite event.

3.4 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper 
and on site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 10 November 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 42



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 14

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To determine a route used by the public that runs from Dowlais Top Ponds to Tai’r 
Twynau, Caeracca 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that the route 
marked with a bold black line between Points A – B on the plan, Pant 14, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
bridleway, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence.

2.2 On confirming 2.1 above to approve the making a Definitive Map Modification Order 
to show Pant 14 as a bridleway.

2.3 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.2 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are withdrawn.

2.4 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

Date Written 4th December 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 45

Agenda Item 12



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The route commences at grid reference SO07090868 and it proceeds in a general 
northerly direction to terminate at Tai’r Twynau, Caeracca, grid reference 
SO06490916. The surface is natural and there are bridle gates situated along the 
route.

3.2 Sections of the land are owned by Paul Brogden and The National Assembly for 
Wales.

3.3 On old Ordnance Survey maps the route is depicted as a section of the Brecon and 
Merthyr railway in 1875 and 1919. On the 1957 and 1978 ordnance survey maps it is 
shown as a section of the dismantled Brecon and Merthyr railway. It is shown as 
dismantled railway on the current ordnance survey map.   

3.4 The route is depicted on an aerial photograph of 1945, the railway is clearly visible. 
The railway was dismantled following the reforms undertaken by Beeching in the 
1960s. Since then the route has been of a natural surface and more recently of a 
tarmacadam surface. 

3.5 The route is widely used by pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders and currently 
forms part of the Sustrans’ cycle trail (a nationally recognised cycle network). The 
route will provide an important link between Caeracca and Dowlais Top Industrial 
Estate and Retail Park.

3.6 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 ASSESSMENT

4.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 
today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by recording the 
route known as Pant 14.

4.2 Status

PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.

4.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 
evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist.

4.4 User and historic evidence demonstrate use of this route as a bridleway.

5.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 

5.1 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question, the normal period 
looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case no application has been 
received. The period of use will therefore be 20 years back from the date of this 
report; i.e. 5th December 1995 to 4th December 2015.

Page 46



5.2 Councillors will note from the report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.

5.3 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 
public use.

6.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE

6.1 The route is discernible on the ground.

7.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE

7.1 The routes have been depicted on a number of cartographic sources Depiction of 
these routes on the various maps as described in the body of this Report indicates 
that the tracks/paths existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the routes. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and 
the way in which these claimed route links with other routes.

8.0 SUMMARY

8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 
by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways. There is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period not to dedicate them.

8.2 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of these 
routes.

8.3 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 
claimed, i.e., over the relevant period and at all material times before it.

8.4 Taking all of the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, 
the interviews with claimants, it is evident that a right of way does exist over these 
routes.

8.5 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of S. 31(1) 
and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route included on the application. 
It is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to 
dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes. Orders to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement could therefore be made under S.53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.

8.6 Taking the above into account, Orders to modify the Definitive Map and Statement 
should therefore be made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

Page 47



Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 (3)(b) have been met and that the 
Public Rights of Way exist.

8.7 Officers therefore recommend that a bridleway be recorded in respect of this route.

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 Officer’s time is involved in investigating the routes and writing the report.  If 
Councillor’s determine that the public rights of way exist, there will be a financial 
implication in advertising the Orders and also for dealing with the Public Inquiry if an 
Order is made and there is an objection to it.

9.2 If an Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route will 
need to be signed.  As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 
considered by the Committee when determining this application as the County 
Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it.

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

10.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage.

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 14 December 15 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 48



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pant 15

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To determine a route used by the public that runs from the rear of 29 Nant Morlais to 
Public Right of Way Pant 7 (Dowlais Top Ponds) 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that the route 
marked with a bold black line between Points A – B on the plan, Pant 15, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
bridleway, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence.

2.2 On confirming 2.1 above to approve the making a Definitive Map Modification Order 
to show Pant 15 as a bridleway. 

2.3 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.2 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are withdrawn.

2.4 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

Date Written 4th December 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 51

Agenda Item 13



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The route commences on the maintainable highway at grid reference SO06490916 
and it proceeds in a general easterly and then a general southerly and finally a 
general easterly direction to terminate at its junction with Public Right of Way Pant 7, 
grid reference SO066900869. The surface is tarmacadam.

3.2 The owner of the land is the National Assembly for Wales.

3.3 The route is depicted on ordnance survey maps for 1875, 1919, 1957 and 1978.

3.4 The route is depicted on aerial photographs of 1945, 2001, 2003, 2006, 2008 and 
2014. 

3.5 The route is widely used by pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders and currently 
forms part of the Sustrans’ cycle trail (a nationally recognised cycle network). The 
route will provide an important link between Nant Morlais and Dowlais Top Industrial 
Estate and Retail Park.

3.6 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 ASSESSMENT

4.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 
today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by recording the 
route known as Pant 15.

4.2 Status

4.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.

4.4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 
evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist.

4.5 User and historic evidence demonstrate use of this route as a bridleway.

5.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 

5.1 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question, the normal period
looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case no application has been 
received. The period of use will therefore be 20 years back from the date of this 
report; i.e. 5th December 1995 to 4th December 2015.

5.2 Councillors will note from the report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.

Page 52



5.3 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 
public use.

6.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE

6.1 The route is discernible on the ground.

7.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE

7.1 The routes have been depicted on a number of cartographic sources. Depiction of 
these routes on the various maps as described in the body of this Report indicates 
that the tracks/paths existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public rights 
on the routes. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the way 
in which these claimed route links with other routes.

8.0 SUMMARY

8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 
by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways. There is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period not to dedicate them.

8.2 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of these 
routes.

8.3 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 
claimed, i.e., over the relevant period and at all material times before it

8.4 Taking all of the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, 
the interviews with claimants, it is evident that a right of way does exist over these 
routes.

8.5 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of S. 31(1) 
and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route included on the application. 
It is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to 
dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes. Orders to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement could therefore be made under S.53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.

8.6 Taking the above into account, Orders to modify the Definitive Map and Statement 
should therefore be made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 (3)(b) have been met and that 
the Public Rights of Way exist.

8.7 Officers therefore recommend that a bridleway be recorded in respect of this route.

Page 53



9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 Officer’s time is involved in investigating the routes and writing the report.  If 
Councillor’s determine that the public rights of way exist, there will be a financial 
implication in advertising the Orders and also for dealing with the Public Inquiry if an 
Order is made and there is an objection to it.

9.2 If an Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route will 
need to be signed.  As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 
considered by the Committee when determining this application as the County 
Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it.

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

10.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage.

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Pant 15 December 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 54



Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Troedyrhiw 71

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To divert the western section of Footpath Troedyrhiw 71 where it passes through 
land that forms part of the Bike Park Wales complex. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 a) Taking into account all of the evidence which has been provided to confirm 
the diversion of Troedyrhiw 71 from the bold line as depicted on the Plan, 
Treharris 31 (plan A), between Point A and Point B to the dashed line as 
depicted on the Plan, Treharris 31 (plan B), between Point A and Point B.

b) That a Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert the footpath.

c) To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion Order made as a 
result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within 
the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are 
withdrawn.

d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 
not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination.

Date Written 30th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 57

Agenda Item 14



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Troedyrhiw 71 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. A 
section of the recorded footpath currently runs through part oft eh Bike Park Wales 
complex. In order to improve and to provide a straighter route for pedestrians an 
application has been received to divert a section of the footpath. This will allow 
pedestrians to enjoy a much safer walk through this section of the Bike Park Wales 
complex to access the Webbers Pond. The proposed diversion is no less 
commodious for the general public.

3.2 Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 gives the authority the power to approve an 
application for changes to the route of a path by concurrent creation and 
extinguishment, stating in s1: 
“Where it appears to a Council as respects a footpath or bridleway in their area … 
that, in the interest of the owner, lessee or occupier of land crossed by the path or 
way or of the public, it is expedient that the line of the path or way or part of that line, 
should be diverted (whether onto land of the same or another owner, lessee or 
occupier), the Council may, subject to subsection (2) below, by order made by them 
and submitted to and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed as an 
unopposed order, -
(a) create … any such new footpath or bridleway as appears to the Council 
requisite for effecting the diversion, and
(b) extinguish … in accordance with the provisions of subsection (3) below, the 
public right of way over so much of the path or way as appears to the Council 
requisite as aforesaid.
An order under this section is referred to in this Act as a public path diversion order.”
Subsections 2 – 9 of S.119 also require:-

 That if the termination point is not on a highway, the new termination point 
must “be substantially as convenient to the public.”

 That the order not come into force until any necessary work is done to “bring 
the new site of the footpath or bridleway into a fit condition for use by the 
public.”

 That the public path diversion order may be unconditional or subject to 
limitations or conditions.

 That the landowner, lessee, or occupier of the land enter into an agreement 
with the Council to defray or make contribution to the costs of any 
compensation and any expenses which may be incurred “in bringing the new 
site of the path or way into fit condition for use for the public.”

 That the order not be confirmed unless the Council / Welsh Assembly 
Government are satisfied that:

Page 58



“it is expedient as mentioned in subsection (1) above, and further that the path or 
way will not be substantially less convenient to the public in consequence of the 
diversion and that it is expedient to confirm the order having regard to the effect 
which – 
a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the path or way as a whole;
b) the coming into operation of the order would have as respects other land served 

by the existing public right of way; and 
c) any new public right of way created by the order would have as respects the land 

over which the right is so created and any land held with it.”
Any material provisions in the Rights of Way Improvement Plan must be 
considered.
The Order must be in the prescribed form.
Schedule 6 of the Act has effect on the making and confirmation of the Order.
Other sections of the Act be applied to the making of a public path diversion 
order.

This diversion is being undertaken by the Council of its own volition.
The legal background is to be found at Agenda Item 4.

3.3 The Route

Existing Footpath – the existing route of Troedyrhiw 71 is depicted as a solid black 
line between points A- B on the attached plan, Troedyrhiw 71, (plan  A).

Proposed Footpath – the proposed route is depicted as a dashed line between 
Points A - B on the attached plan, Troedyrhiw 71 (Plan B).

Committee will note that the western terminus of the Public Right of Way will be 
different from the route already recorded as Public Right of Way. This is permissible 
as the new terminus ends on an existing Public Right of Way, bridleway Troedyrhiw 
83.

The applicant will be required to bring the new footpath up to a satisfactory standard 
before any Diversion Order is confirmed.

No limitations or conditions will exist on the section of the footpath to be diverted

The proposed diversion is no less convenient to the public and will not affect their 
enjoyment of the footpath as a whole.

The proposed diversion does not adversely affect the land served by the existing or 
proposed footpath.

The proposal conforms to the aims and objectives within the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

Page 59



This proposal to divert the right of way to outside the school grounds is for safety 
reasons.    

4.0 ASSESSMENT

4.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 
today; an application to divert Troedyrhiw 71.

4.2 The diversion is necessary in the interests of the enjoyment of the general public and 
to protect their safety.

4.3 It is concluded on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of s119 Highways 
Act 1980 have been met for this route

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage.

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES & 
PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Troedyrhiw 71 November 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

NO 

Page 60



Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Troedyrhiw 125

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To make a Definitive Map Modification Order under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 to record the change of style of gate on the Public Right of Way 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 A Definitive Map Modification Order be made to reflect the change of gate.

2.2 To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as a 
result of 2.1 above provided no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if the objections or representations are withdrawn. 

2.3 If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and not 
subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Troedyrhiw 125 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. The 
route of Troedyrhiw 125 is depicted on the attached plan, Troedyrhiw 125.

3.2 The Definitive Map and Statement records a field gate and kissing gate being 
present at the southern end of the public right of way.  Late last year the kissing gate 
was removed and replaced with a metal gate.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 65

Agenda Item 15



3.3 Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. The change of gates is a 
requisite event.

3.4 The legal background in relation to making orders is to be found at Agenda Item 3.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Troedyrhiw 125 November 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 66



Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Treharris 31
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To divert the section of Footpath Treharris 31 where it passes through Edwardsville 
School to a path that runs around the perimeter of the school grounds. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(s)

2.1 a) Taking into account all of the evidence which has been provided to confirm 
the diversion of Treharris 31 from the bold line as depicted on the plan 
Treharris 31 (plan A) between Point A - B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I – J - K 
to the dashed line as depicted on the Plan Treharris 31 (Plan B) between 
Point A -  B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I - J.

b) That a Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert the footpath.

c) To approve the confirmation of the public Path Diversion Order made as a 
result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within 
the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are 
withdrawn.

d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 
not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination.

Date Written 25th November 2015
Report Author Cheryl Jones
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 25th January 2016

Page 69

Agenda Item 16



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Treharris 31 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath. A 
section of the recorded footpath currently runs through the school grounds and is 
obstructed by hedgerows and fences. Users of this route currently use a path that 
runs around the perimeter of the fence which encloses Edwardsville School. It is not 
possible to use the recorded path through the school as it is obstructed by a fence 
for school security purposes. 

3.2 Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 gives the authority the power to approve an 
application for changes to the route of a path by concurrent creation and 
extinguishment, stating in s1: 
“Where it appears to a Council as respects a footpath or bridleway in their area … 
that, in the interest of the owner, lessee or occupier of land crossed by the path or 
way or of the public, it is expedient that the line of the path or way or part of that line, 
should be diverted (whether onto land of the same or another owner, lessee or 
occupier), the Council may, subject to subsection (2) below, by order made by them 
and submitted to and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed as an 
unopposed order, -

(a) create … any such new footpath or bridleway as appears to the Council 
requisite for effecting the diversion, and

(b) extinguish … in accordance with the provisions of subsection (3) below, the 
public right of way over so much of the path or way as appears to the Council 
requisite as aforesaid.

An order under this section is referred to in this Act as a public path diversion order.”

3.3 Subsections 2 – 9 of S.119 also require:-

 That if the termination point is not on a highway, the new termination point 
must “be substantially as convenient to the public.”

 That the order not come into force until any necessary work is done to “bring 
the new site of the footpath or bridleway into a fit condition for use by the 
public.”

 That the public path diversion order may be unconditional or subject to 
limitations or conditions.

 That the landowner, lessee, or occupier of the land enter into an agreement 
with the Council to defray or make contribution to the costs of any 
compensation and any expenses which may be incurred “in bringing the new 
site of the path or way into fit condition for use for the public.”

Page 70



 That the order not be confirmed unless the Council / Welsh Assembly 
Government are satisfied that:

“it is expedient as mentioned in subsection (1) above, and further that the path or 
way will not be substantially less convenient to the public in consequence of the 
diversion and that it is expedient to confirm the order having regard to the effect 
which – 

a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the path or way as a whole;
b) the coming into operation of the order would have as respects other land served 

by the existing public right of way; and 
c) any new public right of way created by the order would have as respects the land 

over which the right is so created and any land held with it.”

Any material provisions in the Rights of Way Improvement Plan must be considered.

The Order must be in the prescribed form.

Schedule 6 of the Act has effect on the making and confirmation of the Order.

Other sections of the Act be applied to the making of a public path diversion order.

This diversion is being undertaken by the Council of its own volition.

The legal background is to be found at Agenda Item 4.

3.4 The Route

Existing Footpath – the existing route of Treharris 31 is depicted as a solid black line 
between points A- B – C - D – E – F – G – H – I – J – K on the attached plan, 
Treharris 31, (plan  A).

Proposed Footpath – the proposed route will follow an already existing path for its 
entire length and is depicted as a dashed line between Points A - B – C – D – E – F 
– G – H –I- J on the attached plan, Treharris 31 (Plan B).

The commencement and termination points of the original path, Treharris 31 will 
remain the same.

No extra work is necessary to bring the proposed diversion into a fit condition for use 
by the public.

A gate exists at Point I on the diverted route

The proposed diversion is no less convenient to the public and will not affect their 
enjoyment of the footpath as a whole.

Page 71



The proposed diversion does not adversely affect the land served by the existing or 
proposed footpath.

The proposal conforms to the aims and objectives within the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

This proposal to divert the right of way to outside the school grounds is for safety 
reasons.    
 

4.0 ASSESSMENT

4.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 
today; an application to divert Treharris 31.

4.2 The diversion is necessary on the grounds of safety to school children.

4.3 It is concluded on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of s119 Highways 
Act 1980 have been met for this route

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 A notice advertising the Order will need to be placed in the local newspaper and on 
site. These costs will be met out of the existing rights of way budget. 

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of this report and 
no negative effects have been identified at this stage.

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(PLACE AND TRANSFORMATION) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Treharris 31 November 2015 Unit 5 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Page 72



Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way
	4 Guidance on the Law relating to the extinguishment of Public Rights of Way under the Highways Act 1980
	5 Pant 13
	6 Pant 5
	Plan

	7 Pant 6
	Plan

	8 Pant 7
	Plan

	9 Pant 8
	Plan

	10 Pant 9
	Plan

	11 Pant 10
	Plan

	12 Pant 14
	Plan

	13 Pant 15
	Plan

	14 Troedyrhiw 71
	Plan A
	Plan B

	15 Troedyrhiw 125
	Plan

	16 Treharris 31
	Plan A
	Plan B


